IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF SPARKS, a Municipal Corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

RENO NEWSPAPER, INC., a Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Jun 08 2016 09:57 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Supreme Court Caeck of Supteme Court

District Case No. CV15-01871

On Appeal from an Order Granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus from the Second Judicial District Court of the County of Washoe in the State of Nevada

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DOUGLAS R. THORNLEY, ESQ. Senior Assistant City Attorney Nevada Bar No. 10455 Counsel of Record

CHESTER H. ADAMS, ESQ. Sparks City Attorney Nevada Bar No. 3009

> P.O. Box 857 Sparks, Nevada 89432

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On January 28, 2016, the Second Judicial District Court entered its Order Granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the above-captioned matter. The Order is a final judgment and is subject to review by this Court. NRAP 3A(b)(1). The City filed its Notice of Appeal on February 8, 2016, which is within the 30 days allowed by NRAP 4(a)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because the questions presented are matters of statewide public importance and issues of first impression. *See* NRAP 17(a)(13) and NRAP 17(a)(14). First, this case requires a determination regarding the proper procedural path and remedy under Nevada law for resolving disputes concerning restrictions on access to public records promulgated as part of the Nevada Administrative Code. Second, this case presents the first opportunity for judicial scrutiny of NAC 453A.714 which deals with the confidentiality of names and personal information of certain participants in Nevada's newly-established medical marijuana industry. These issues are best resolved by the Supreme Court in order to avoid inconsistent application and interpretation by lower courts and to afford certainty to those industry participants who rely on the state-adopted guarantee of anonymity.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The instant proceeding concerns a petition for writ of mandamus seeking the release of names of individuals who hold city-issued business licenses to operate medical marijuana establishments as public records under NRS 239.010. NAC 453A.714(1) requires that:

Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 239.0115, the Division shall maintain the confidentiality of and shall not disclose the name or any other identifying information of any person who facilitates or delivers services pursuant to this chapter or chapter 453A of NRS. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 239.0115, the name and any other identifying information of any person who facilitates or delivers services pursuant to this chapter or chapter 453A of NRS is confidential, not subject to subpoena or discovery and not subject to inspection by the general public.

The district court concluded that the phrase "delivers services" is not sufficiently clear as to classify NAC 453A.714 an unambiguous legislative declaration of confidentiality as required by *Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 234 P.3d 922 (Nev. 2010). JA206:16-207:3. The questions presented are:

- 1. Whether NRS 233B.110 prescribes the mandatory procedural and remedial vehicle for resolving disputes arising under Nevada's Public Records Law that contest the applicability or validity of a state regulation; and
- 2. Whether NAC 453A.714 protects the names and personal information of persons licensed to operate medical marijuana establishments in Nevada from disclosure pursuant to requests made under NRS 239.010.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 20, 2015, the Reno Gazette Journal (the "Newspaper") requested that the City of Sparks (the "City" or "Sparks") provide it with "copies of the business licenses of medical marijuana establishments in Sparks, including the names of the applicant/licensees." JA018. Subject to a list of exceptions or "unless otherwise declared by law to be confidential," the Nevada Public Records Law requires that the records of a governmental entity be made available for inspection and reproduction by the public. NRS 239.010(1). Citing NAC 453A.714(1), the City produced the business licenses sought by the Newspaper but redacted the personal names and identifying information of the licensees from the documents. JA015-016. The corporate names, locations, and contact information of the businesses at issue remained unaltered on the produced documents. JA020-026. The Newspaper renewed its demand for the personal names of the licensees operating medical marijuana establishments in Sparks and the request was denied once more.

The City interprets the declaration of confidentiality contained in NAC 453A.714(1) as applicable only to individual persons involved in Nevada's medical marijuana industry and not the corporate identity of similarly involved organizations. See FCC v. AT&T Inc., 562 U.S. 397 (2011) (concluding that exemptions from disclosure requirements of the Freedom of Information Act governing law enforcement records which "could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy" does not protect information related to corporate privacy).

JA004:4-6. As a result, the Newspaper filed a petition for writ of mandamus to compel the City to disclose the redacted information.² JA004:7.

In granting the Newspaper's Petition, the district court concluded that the Newspaper is not required to utilize the legislatively-prescribed process for challenging the application or validity of state regulations set out in the Administrative Procedure Act when pursuing a claim arising under the Public Records Law [JA205:5-12] and that the phrase "delivers services" contained in NAC 453A.714(1) is ambiguous due to the regulation's "silence... regarding who exactly" is entitled to its guarantee of anonymity. JA207:22-25. On that basis, the district court ruled that the regulation was not an express declaration of confidentiality as required by *Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 234 P.3d 922 (2010), and was therefore unenforceable. JA207:25-208:2. The City now appeals. JA222.

///

The Newspaper asserts that the personal identity of individuals who operate medical marijuana establishments in Nevada has been "expressly pronounced" as a matter of public interest by the Nevada Legislature. JA002:20-003:15. Actually, the Legislature's statement of purpose in NRS 453A.320 is just an invocation of the state's general police power. *See generally In re Boyce*, 75 P. 1 (Nev. 1904). Whatever "public interest" may exist in the information sought by the Newspaper is abrogated by the Legislature's direction to the Division to "protect the identity" of individuals who receive, facilitate, or deliver medical marijuana services [NRS 453A.370(5)] and the Division's resultant declaration that the names and identifying information of such persons are "confidential, not subject to subpoena or discovery and *not subject to inspection by the general public*." NAC 453A.714(1) (emphasis added).

II.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 7, 2000, Nevada voters approved Ballot Question 9, amending the state constitution to provide for lawful medical use of marijuana. *See* Nevada Constitution, Art. 4, § 38. The law took effect on October 1, 2001, and removed state-level criminal penalties on the use, possession, and cultivation of marijuana by patients who have written documentation from their physician stating that marijuana may alleviate the patient's condition. *Id.* As a result of the constitutional change, the state established a confidential patient registry that issues identification cards to qualifying patients. *See* JA055-062 (Assembly Bill ("AB") 453, 71st Nevada Legislature (2001) §§ 14 - 25; now codified at NRS 453A.200-453A.310). What Nevada's early medical marijuana laws did not provide for, however, was a legal avenue to obtain the drug for medical consumption. In 2013, the 77th Nevada Legislature addressed this issue by passing Senate Bill ("SB") 374. JA077-124.

Generally speaking, SB 374 established the medical marijuana industry in Nevada. The bill amended NRS Chapter 453A to include the parameters within which marijuana could be cultivated, processed, and distributed for medical purposes and added the framework governing the licensure of *commercial* participants in the newly-legitimized economy. JA084-105 (§§ 3.5-20). But SB 374 was only the foundation; as part of the bill, the Legislature directed the Division of Public and

Behavioral Health of the Department of Health and Human Services to adopt regulations that the Division determined "to be necessary or advisable to carry out the program of dispensing marijuana." JA079; JA103-105 (§20).

The Division promulgated a comprehensive scheme of regulations - codified at NAC Chapter 453A - concerning both the application process for a state-issued medical marijuana establishment registration certificate and the actual operation of medical marijuana establishments in Nevada.³ Because the Legislature limited the number of establishments that could be registered in each county [NRS 453A.324] and delineated the contents of an application for a registration certificate [NRS 453A.322] the Division was charged with determining how to best resolve the surplus of applications against the restricted number of available licenses. The Division's adopted method ranks the applicants within each local jurisdiction based on four distinct criteria [NAC 453A.310] and then grants medical marijuana establishment registration certificates "to the highest ranked applicants" until the pre-designated number of licenses, by type of establishment and jurisdiction, are issued. NAC

///

///

///

³ Properly adopted provisions of the Nevada Administrative Code "have the force of law." NRS 233B.040(1)(a).

453A.312.⁴ The medical marijuana establishment may not commence operations until it demonstrates compliance "with all applicable local governmental ordinances and rules," and secures a business license.⁵ NAC 453A.316(1).

Included in the Legislature's direction to the Division concerning the adoption of regulations related to the operation of medical marijuana establishments is a clear mandate: that the regulations "must, without limitation... As far as possible while maintaining accountability, protect the identity and personal identifying information of each person who receives, facilitates or delivers services" under the authority of

In that way, local jurisdictions were not *originally* allowed to select the operators of medical marijuana establishments within their municipal boundaries - only the best qualified candidates were licensed by the state, and only candidates who were licensed by the state were eligible for a local business license. In 2015, however, the Legislature passed SB 276 which afforded greater local control to the process by essentially creating a race to licensure: now, if a local government so chooses, it may issue a business license to a potential medical marijuana establishment operator without regard for the operator's ranking on the state list, and so long as the state has not previously issued all of the statutorily allocated medical marijuana establishment certificates for the local jurisdiction, the state must issue a certificate. See SB 276, 78th Nevada Legislature (2015) §§ 3-4. The City of Sparks has intentionally avoided this issue by requiring applicants for a business license to operate a medical marijuana establishment in Sparks to first obtain the state issued registration certificate. Sparks Municipal Code § 5.80.050(F).

If a local government does not issue business licenses or utilize some other form of authorizing a medical marijuana establishment, the state-issued registration certificate serves as the approval to begin operations. NAC 453A.316(2).

NRS Chapter 453A. NRS 453A.370(5); *see also* JA104. The Division responded by declaring:

Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 239.0115, the Division shall maintain the confidentiality of and shall not disclose the name or any other identifying information of any person who facilitates or delivers services pursuant to this chapter or chapter 453A of NRS. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 239.0115, the name and any other identifying information of any person who facilitates or delivers services pursuant to this chapter or chapter 453A of NRS is confidential, not subject to subpoena or discovery and not subject to inspection by the general public. NAC 453A.714(1) (emphasis added).

The parties dispute whether NAC 453A.714(1) prohibits the disclosure of the names and personal information of persons who hold local business licenses to operate medical marijuana establishments as an exception to the Public Records Law and the proper procedure by which the argument should be resolved under Nevada law.

III.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mandamus is an extraordinary remedy that is unavailable when a petitioner has a "plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law." *Aspen Financial Services, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 313 P.3d 875, 877-78 (Nev. 2013); *see also* NRS 34.170. The Newspaper complains that NAC 453A.714(1) does not apply to the circumstances of the immediate action and that the Division's adoption of the regulation exceeded the authority conferred upon the Division by the Legislature. JA007:1-21; JA007:25-009:6. These arguments are fatal to the Petition

itself: an action for declaratory relief under NRS 233B.110 is the legislatively prescribed remedy governing disputes related to the applicability or validity of administrative regulations. Extraordinary writ relief is unavailable due to the existence of a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law, and the judgment of the district court is void for failure to join an indispensable party.

NAC 453A.714(1) declares that the names and personal information of "any person" who "deliver services" under the authority of NRS Chapter 453A are confidential, not subject to disclosure, subpoena or public inspection. The district court's determination that the phrase "deliver services" is not sufficiently specific as to effectively confer confidentiality on the aforementioned class of information is erroneously based on an improper application of Nevada's public records jurisprudence. JA207:3-208:3. The term "deliver" is both defined in statute and included in the statutory definitions for every single type of medical marijuana establishment allowed by Nevada law. See NRS 453A.060; NRS 453.051; NRS 453A.116; NRS 453A.056; NRS 453A.105; NRS 453A.115. Moreover, the inclusion of the phrase "any person" in NAC 453A.714(1) clearly answers the district court's inquiry concerning "who is included" in the regulation's protective grasp. JA207:21. The plain language of NAC 453A.714(1) is an express and unequivocal declaration of confidentiality and exception to NRS 239.010 and the judgment of the district court should be reversed.

IV.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In considering a writ petition, the Court gives deference to the factual determinations of the district court, but reviews matters involving the construction of a statute or an administrative regulation, which are questions of law, *de novo*. *Gonski v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 245 P.3d 1164, 1168 (Nev. 2010); *Kay v. Nunez*, 146 P.3d 801, 804 (Nev. 2006); *State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 995 P.2d 482 (Nev. 2000).

V.

ARGUMENT

- A. The Administrative Procedure Act is the "Sole Remedy" for Challenging the Applicability or Validity of NAC 453A.714(1).
 - 1. The Petition is Procedurally Deficient and Nonjusticiable.

The district court's conclusion that the provisions of NRS 233B.110 are a "permissive" remedy in cases that challenge the applicability of the Nevada Administrative Code rather than mandatory procedural requirements is erroneous. *See* JA205:5-12. In *Southern California Edison v. First Judicial District Court*, this Court considered the proper method by which decisions of the Nevada Tax Commission concerning refund claims may be challenged. 255 P.3d 231, 232 (Nev. 2011). There, Edison's claims for multiple tax refunds accruing over a two-and-a-half year period

were denied by the Department of Taxation, the denials were consolidated and upheld by an administrative law judge, and denied on appeal once more by the Tax Commission. *Id.* at 233. Relying on NRS 372.680,⁶ Edison filed a complaint in district court seeking a trial *de novo* on the refund claims. *Id.* In response, the Department of Taxation moved for dismissal of the suit on the grounds that the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act [NRS Chapter 233B] required Edison to initiate the suit as a petition for judicial review rather than a complaint. *Id.* The district court concluded that despite the competing nomenclature, the suit would proceed under the standards set out in the Administrative Procedure Act. *Id.* Edison filed a petition for writ of mandamus with the Supreme Court requesting that the district court be ordered to treat the originally filed complaint as an independent civil action. *Id.*

Recognizing that two applicable statutes appeared to govern the nature of an action for tax refund (and that those statutes seemed to require different types of proceedings) the Court held that because NRS 372.680 "does not define the nature

NRS 372.680 provides that "[w]ithin 90 days after a final decision upon a claim filed pursuant to this chapter is rendered by the Nevada Tax Commission, the claimant *may* bring an action against the Department on the grounds set forth in the claim in a court of competent jurisdiction... for the recovery of the whole or any part of the amount with respect to which the claim has been disallowed." (Emphasis added). As a general observation, statutes governing the commencement of a legal action are always permissive; the law allows - but does not require - lawsuits to be filed. *Compare e.g.*, NRS 30.170; NRS 41.010; NRS 326.010.

of the action to be brought" against the Department of Taxation and because neither the Department of Taxation, the Tax Commission, nor the statutory framework within which the rights of Edison arose in that case were exempted from the reach of the Administrative Procedure Act by NRS 233B.039, that the Administrative Procedure Act was the controlling statutory scheme and the "sole remedy" for challenging sales and use tax refund decisions by the Tax Commission. *Id.* at 234-35; 237. The Court explained: "NRS 372.680 permits a taxpayer to challenge the Commission's decision by filing an action; pursuant to NRS 233B.130, that action must be a petition for judicial review." *Id.* at 233.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

That holding notwithstanding, the Court granted Edison's petition for writ of mandamus on the basis of judicial estoppel because of the Department of Taxation's apparent history of taking inconsistent positions with regard to the proper procedure concerning taxpayer challenges to denials of refund claims by the Department. *Edison*, 255 P.3d at 237-38.

The immediate case presents a unique circumstance: the law relied on by the City in denying the Newspaper's public records request is a state regulation rather than a state statute. ⁸ JA015-016. The Nevada Legislature has explicitly defined the method by which a party may challenge the applicability or validity of a provision of the Nevada Administrative Code. See NRS 233B.110. Thus, like Edison, the facts of this case are apparently governed by two applicable statutes: on the one hand, NRS 239.011 (providing that when a governmental agency denies a public records request that the requester "may apply to the district court... for an order" permitting the inspection or requiring the provision of a copy of the record) and on the other, NRS 233B.110 ("[t]he validity or applicability of any regulation may be determined in a proceeding for declaratory judgment in the district court in and for Carson City, or in and for the county where the plaintiff resides, when it is alleged that the regulation, or its proposed application, interferes with or impairs, or threatens to interfere with or impair, the legal rights or privileges of the plaintiff"). As in Edison, NRS

Properly adopted provisions of the Nevada Administrative Code "have the force of law." NRS 233B.040(1)(a). This Court has held that both rules promulgated by the Court and federal regulations are sufficiently authoritative to confer confidentiality upon records that would otherwise be subject to disclosure under the NRS 239.010. See Civil Rights for Seniors v. AOC, 313 P.3d 216, 219 (Nev. 2013) (rules established by Supreme Court of Nevada governing state foreclosure mediation program); City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal, 63 P.3d 1147, 1150 (Nev. 2003) (federal regulation). However, the Court has not yet decided a case in which the Nevada Administrative Code was the basis for a claim of confidentiality.

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