#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF SPARKS, a Municipal Corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

RENO NEWSPAPERS, INC., a Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Electronically Filed Aug 08 2016 10:56 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court Washoe County, Nevada Honorable Scott N. Freeman, District Court Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

GLOGOVAC & PINTAR SCOTT A. GLOGOVAC, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 000226 ROBERT R. HOWEY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 11608 427 W. Plumb Lane Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone: (775) 333-0400 Facsimile: (775)333-0412

Attorneys for Respondent Reno Newspapers, Inc.

###

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

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court correctly concluded that, irrespective of the fact that this matter raises issues as to the proper interpretation of an administrative regulation, the proper remedial mechanism for addressing the parties' public records dispute is a mandamus proceeding under the Nevada Public Records Act. The bottom line is that this matter concerns public access to records maintained by a government agency, and this Court has long held that such issues are properly addressed through a mandamus proceeding.

The district court also correctly ruled that no express, unequivocal grant of confidentiality exists under Nevada law for the names of the City's MME business license holders. Under the Nevada Public Records Act, all public records of government agencies in this state are open to public inspection unless expressly and unequivocally declared by law to be confidential. Moreover, any claimed exception

to this rule must be construed narrowly and in favor of public disclosure. In disregard of these legal principles, and in an attempt to shield the names of its MME business license holders from public disclosure, the City has advanced the most expansive and overbroad interpretation possible of NAC 453A.714(1), and of certain related statutes in NRS Chapter 453A. However, when that regulation and the related statutes are narrowly construed as required by the Nevada Public Records Act, it is clear that no express, unequivocal grant of confidentiality exists for those names under Nevada law.

The order of the district court should therefore be affirmed in all respects.

### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The RGJ agrees with the City that the standard of review for any issues of statutory interpretation in this matter is de novo. See Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Sheriff, 126 Nev. 211, 214, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010).

The City's Opening Brief, however, notably fails address the further, more specific standard of statutory construction that is mandated in public records litigation by the Nevada Public Records Act and the decisions of this Court.

NRS 239.010(1) states, in pertinent part, that "[a]ll public books and public records of a government entity, the contents of which are not otherwise declared by law to be confidential, must be open at all times during office hours to inspection

by any person . . . . " As confirmed by this Court:

The Nevada Public Records Act considers <u>all</u> records to be public documents available for inspection unless otherwise explicitly made confidential by statute or by a balancing of public interests against privacy or law enforcement justification for nondisclosure.

Sheriff, 126 Nev. at 212, 234 P.3d at 923.

The purpose of the Nevada Public Records Act is to ensure the accountability of the government to members of the public by facilitating public access to vital information about government activities. DR Partners v. Bd of County Comm'rs of Clark County, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000); see also Sheriff, 126 Nev. at 214, 234 P.3d at 924 ("[t]he purpose of the Act is to foster principles of democracy by allowing the public access to information about government activities.")

The Nevada Legislature has thus specifically mandated that the Nevada Public Records Act "be construed liberally", and that any limitations on public disclosure be "construed narrowly". NRS 239.001; <u>DR Partners</u>, 116 Nev. at 621, 6 P.3d at 468; <u>Sheriff</u>, 126 Nev. at 214, 234 P.3d at 924. Moreover, this Court has stated that in cases under the Nevada Public Records Act, it will:

presume that all public records are open to disclosure unless either (1) the Legislature has **expressly and unequivocally** created an exemption or exception by statute, see Cowles Pub. Co. v. Kootenai County Bd.,

144 Idaho 259, 159 P.3d 896, 899 (2007) (holding that unless public records are "expressly exempted by statute," they are presumed to be open to inspection by the public); *Kroeplin v. Wisconsin DNR*, 297 Wis.2d 254, 725 N.W.2d 286, 292 (Wis. Ct. App. 2006) (holding that "exceptions to the open records law are to be narrowly construed; unless the exception is explicit and unequivocal, we will not hold it to be an exception"); or (2) balancing the private or law enforcement interests for nondisclosure against the general policy in favor of an open and accessible government requires restricting public access to government records. *See Donrey of Nevada v. Bradshaw*, 106 Nev. 630, 635-36, 798 P.2d 144, 147-48 (1990).

Sheriff, 126 Nev. at 214-15, 234 P.3d at 924-25 (emphasis supplied).

Furthermore, the public official or agency bears the burden of establishing that the requested records are "declared by law to be confidential." <u>DR Partners</u>, 116 Nev. at 621, 6 P.3d at 468; NRS 239.0113. "[I]n unity with the underlying policy of ensuring an open and accountable government, the burden is on the government to prove confidentiality by a preponderance of the evidence." <u>Sheriff</u>, 126 Nev. at 215, 234 P.3d at 925.

Recently, in Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 266 P.3d 623 (2011), this Court provided a comprehensive overview of Nevada's public records jurisprudence, along with a detailed framework for review of cases under the Nevada Public Records Act. As noted by the Court, the starting point for the analysis in such matters is the mandate of the Public Records Act that its provisions "be construed liberally" to facilitate access to public records, and that any

restrictions on access "be construed narrowly." <u>Id.</u>, 127 Nev. at 880, 266 P.3d at 628; NRS 239.001(2) and (3). There is a *presumption* that all government-generated records are open to disclosure, and the governmental entity bears the burden of overcoming this presumption in favor of public access. <u>Id.</u> Only a statutory provision that "explicitly" declares a record to be confidential can meet this burden, and absent such the government entity must prove that, in a balancing of interests, its interest in nondisclosure clearly outweighs the public's interest in access. Id.

In this matter, the City has not advanced any form of "balancing of interests" argument, thereby acknowledging that any interest it may have in keeping the names of its MME business license holders confidential does not outweigh the public's interest in disclosure. The City instead asserts that the names are confidential pursuant to an express statutory-based declaration of confidentiality. As will be demonstrated below, however, the City cannot meet the rigorous burden imposed upon it under Nevada's public records jurisprudence for establishing such a declaration.

### V. ARGUMENT

- A. A Mandamus Proceeding Is The Appropriate Remedial

  Mechanism For Addressing A Dispute Concerning Access To

  Public Records
  - 1. NRS 239.011(1), not Nevada's Administrative Procedure Act, controls the public records dispute in this matter.

The City's initial argument in this matter is procedural, not substantive. The

argument is that this mandamus proceeding is not the appropriate means of addressing the parties' public records dispute. According to the City, because its claim of confidentiality raises issues as to the proper interpretation of an administrative regulation (as opposed to a statute, court rule, or balancing test), Nevada's Administrative Procedure Act and, specifically, NRS 233B.110, provides the exclusive means of addressing whether the public records at issue are subject to public disclosure. This argument, however, is a clear instance of the proverbial "tail wagging the dog." Simply put, the remedial process the RGJ is entitled to pursue to enforce its rights under the Nevada Public Records Act is not dictated by the nature of the government agency's chosen theory of confidentiality.

Instead, the Nevada Legislature has expressly declared that a party who has been denied access to public records may proceed with an action before the district court. In this regard, NRS 239.011(1) states:

If a request for inspection, copying or copies of a public book or record open to inspection is denied, the requestor may apply to the district court in the county in which the book or record is located for an order:

- (a) Permitting the requester to inspect or copy the book or record; or
- (b) Requiring the person who has legal custody or control of the public book or record to provide a copy to the requester, as applicable.

Nowhere does this statute impose any obligation of exhausting administrative remedies, and nowhere does it exempt public records disputes involving issues of interpretation related to administrative regulations.

Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court has long held that a petition for writ of mandamus is the proper procedural mechanism for an action involving a dispute over access to public records. "[A] writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of an act that the law requires as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station, or to control an arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion. *Mandamus is the appropriate procedural remedy to compel production of public records.*" <u>DR</u> Partners, 116 Nev. at 620-21, 6 P.3d at 468 (emphasis added).

At the heart of the City's attempt to circumvent this clear direction from the Nevada Supreme Court is its misguided belief that this action seeks to challenge or invalidate an administrative regulation -- i.e., NAC 453A.714(1). That, however, is not an accurate characterization of this action.

Instead, this action was filed by the RGJ for the simple purpose of obtaining access to public records that have been wrongfully withheld from disclosure. Nowhere in its Petition for Writ of Mandamus does the RGJ challenge the validity of NAC 453A.714(1). Rather, the Petition makes clear that it is the City's overly broad interpretation of that regulation, and the resulting denial of a valid public

records request, which led to the filing of this action. Indeed, the RGJ's Petition plainly states:

Under the circumstances, the City, through its overly expansive interpretation of NAC 453A.714(1), has done exactly what the Nevada Legislature and the Nevada Supreme Court have instructed government agencies in this state <u>not</u> to do in public records matters - - it has wrongfully given the broadest possible interpretation to an unclear, ambiguous regulation for the purpose of defeating public access to public information.

### See (JA 009).

As a result, any requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act, including exhaustion of administrative remedies, are not applicable in this action. To the contrary, because this action merely implicates the proper interpretation of a purported confidentiality provision and involves a denial of access to public records, mandamus is the proper legal mechanism. See NRS 239.011(1).

A public records dispute may very well, and often does, present a disagreement between the parties as to the proper scope or interpretation of a purported confidentiality provision, as is the case here with NAC 453A.714(1). This, necessarily, means that the party advocating public disclosure, consistent with Nevada's public records jurisprudence, will advance a narrow construction of the confidentiality provision. But such advocacy does not equate with a contention that the provision is invalid or must be stricken from the books as unlawful. Rather, it is

simply a means of supporting that party's position that the provision should not and cannot be given the overly broad interpretation typically advanced by the party advocating non-disclosure.

A good example of this can be found in Sheriff, 126 Nev. 211, 234 P.3d 922 (2010), a mandamus action in which the RGJ sought disclosure of certain concealed weapon permit information maintained by the Washoe County Sheriff. In framing the issue, the Nevada Supreme Court noted that "the parties dispute the scope of NRS 202.3662, which governs the confidentiality of information about an applicant for a concealed firearms permit and a permittee." Id., 126 Nev. at 215, 234 P.3d at 925. The Sheriff broadly construed the statute, arguing that because an application for a concealed firearms permit and information related to the applicant are declared confidential under the statute, any information contained in a subsequently issued permit, including the name of the permittee, was likewise confidential. The Supreme Court disagreed, holding that under the narrow construction mandate of the Nevada Public Records Act, the statutory grant of confidentiality under NRS 202.3662 did not extend to a permittee. The names of permittees were therefore found to be a matter of public record, and the Court ordered the Sheriff to disclose the same. Id., 126 Nev. at 216-17, 234 P.3d at 926.

At no point in <u>Sheriff</u> did the RGJ argue that NRS 202.3662 was invalid or somehow unenforceable under the law. Rather, it simply advocated the narrow

statutory construction approach embraced by the Nevada Supreme Court.

Very similarly, in this case, and as a preview of the substantive arguments set forth later in this brief, the parties dispute the proper interpretation and scope of a purported confidentiality provision, namely, NAC 453A.714(1). Just as in Sheriff, the RGJ advocates a narrow construction of the provision and contends that it does not extend to the names of the City's MME business license holders. Conversely, the City broadly construes the provision, arguing that the Nevada Legislature evidenced an intent that the provision apply to such names. In advocating its contravening position, one of the RGJ's arguments is that the overly broad interpretation advanced by the City is inconsistent with and not supported by the statutory structure that underlies that provision, and therefore that the provision must be construed narrowly and consistent with that structure. This action, therefore, does not seek a determination of the validity of NAC 453A.714(1). Instead, it merely advances the argument that the City's interpretation of that regulation is overly broad and impermissible under Nevada's public records jurisprudence.

Under the circumstances, the City's argument that Nevada's Administrative

Procedure Act controls the resolution of the parties' public records dispute is simply

wrong.1

# 2. Joinder of the Division is not necessary in this dispute over access to public records maintained by the City.

As a further product of its erroneous conclusion that Nevada's Administrative Procedure Act governs the parties' public records dispute, the City argues that the RGJ's Petition for Writ of Mandamus should not have been heard by the district court because, contrary to the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act, the Division was not joined as a party. According to the City, joinder of the Division is necessary because the RGJ seeks to invalidate a regulation adopted by the Division. This assertion, however, is incorrect for all the reasons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Equally misplaced is the City's citation to Southern California Edison v. Dist. Ct., 127 Nev. 276, 255 P.3d 231 (2011), as authority for the proposition that the Administrative Procedure Act is the proper remedial mechanism for addressing the parties' public records dispute. The obvious distinction in that case is that it involved a claim for a tax refund which proceeded through an administrative process involving a hearing in front of the Nevada Department of Taxation, followed by an appeal to the Nevada Tax Commission and a decision by an administrative law judge. The only issue in that case was whether the district court, once the administrative process was complete, was to review the administrative law judge's decision under a de novo standard of review or under a petition for judicial review applying a more deferential standard. Id., 127 Nev. at 278, 255 P.3d at 232. This is factually and procedurally distinct from this case which, as noted, involves a denial of access to public records. Unlike the tax refund issues in Southern California Edison, the public records dispute in this case does not invoke administrative oversight, and does not seek to invalidate any administrative regulation. The provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act are therefore not triggered.

discussed above. The RGJ has not challenged the validity of NAC 453A.714(1). Rather, it challenges the City's overbroad, incorrect interpretation of that regulation.

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